

Oñati Socio-Legal Series, v. 1, n. 6 (2011) - Current Socio-Legal Perspectives on Dispute Resolution ISSN: 2079-5971

The antecedents of disputes: complaining and claiming

Herbert M. Kritzer *

Abstract

This paper focuses on the earliest stages of the problem resolution function of law and legal institutions: the emergence of grievances and their communication to a responsible party as complaints and claims. While the literature on this subject is broad, both in terms of methods and in terms of the fairly large number of countries where empirical research on this subject has been conducted, it seems appropriate to ask the question, what do we know and not know about this subject? This paper seeks to answer this question and to suggest fruitful avenues of future inquiry. I first discuss the primary metaphors used in the literature. Following that I describe the broad approaches that have been applied in empirical research regarding complaining and claiming. I then examine the explanations that have been advanced for variations in complaining and claiming patterns, both at the individual and the aggregate levels; in this section I identify points of general agreement and issues where agreement is lacking. Finally, I propose an agenda for future research related to complaining and claiming.

Key words

Claiming; Complaining; Propensity to Sue; Litigiousness.

^{*} University of Minnesota Law School, 229 19th Avenue South Minneapolis, MN 55455, <u>kritzer@umn.edu</u> This article was originally prepared for presentation at the Workshop on Current Socio-Legal Perspectives on Dispute Resolution, International Institute for the Sociology of Law, Oñati, Spain, July 8-9, 2010 (Minnesota Legal Studies Research Paper No. 10-13, SSRN Paper No. 1631796), and draws on material assembled for a chapter that appears in the *Oxford Handbook of Empirical Legal Research* (Peter Cape and Herbert M. Kritzer, eds., 2010).

Table of contents

1. Introduction	3
2. Primary Models and Metaphors	3
3. Research Traditions and Methodologies	5
3.1. Types of Studies	6
3.1.1. Legal Needs	6
3.1.2. Dispute Processing	6
3.1.3. Litigation Rates	7
3.1.4. Compensation Studies	8
3.1.5. Justiciable Problem Studies	8
3.1.6. Community Studies	9
3.2. Research Methodologies	9
4. Explaining Variations in Claiming Behavior	
4.1. The Incidence of Grievances	10
4.2. Why People Say They Don't Claim or Complain	12
4.3. Factors Influencing Claiming	13
4.3.1. Contextual Characteristics—Type of Problem	13
4.3.2. Individual Characteristics	15
4.3.3. Institutional Characteristics	16
4.3.4. Cultural Differences	19
4.3.5. Future Research	20
5. References	22

1. Introduction

This paper focuses on the earliest stages of the problem resolution function of law and legal institutions: the emergence of grievances and their communication to a responsible party as complaints and claims. While the literature on this subject is broad, both in terms of methods and in terms of the fairly large number of countries where empirical research on this subject has been conducted, it seems appropriate to ask the question, what do we know and not know about this subject? This paper seeks to answer this question and to suggest fruitful avenues of future inquiry. I proceed as follows. In the next fairly brief section I discuss the primary metaphors used in the literature. Following that I describe the broad approaches that have been applied in empirical research regarding complaining and claiming. I then examine the explanations that have been advanced for variations in complaining and claiming patterns, both at the individual and the aggregate levels; in this section I will identify points of general agreement and issues where agreement is lacking. Finally, I propose an agenda for future research related to complaining and claiming.

2. Primary Models and Metaphors

Contemporary research related to complaining and claiming grew, in significant part, out of an interest in understanding the "propensity to sue." While this term implies a focus on lawsuits in courts, its early use, and my use of the term in this paper, refers more broadly to the use of formal mechanisms of adjudication regardless of whether or not the venue is labeled a "court." Most of the mechanisms are parts of the state apparatus: courts, commissions, tribunals, administrative bodies, but they can be privatized if the parties have contractually agreed to rely upon, and be bound by, a private system of adjudication such as arbitration. For simplicity in the discussion that follows, I refer to all cases that have been formally initiated under the auspices of an adjudicatory body as a "lawsuit" even that in actual practice that term is normally reserved for cases in bodies labeled "courts.".

A lawsuit does not simply spring into being. It develops. In my own work, I have referred to the "developmental theory of litigation" which describes the emergence of lawsuits as a series of stages, barriers, and transitions across the barriers (Kritzer 1991, pp. 401-02). This framework builds on the well-known work of Felstiner et al. (1980-81, see also Vidmar 1981, pp. 408-13) which described the emergence of disputes as involving a process of "naming, blaming, and claiming." Disputes come into being through a process whereby first there is some "injurious experience" which is recognized by the injured party or her agent ("naming") thus becoming a "perceived injurious experience" (a PIE); an unrecognized injury is an "unperceived injurious experience" (an "unPIE"). In the developmental theory framework, the movement from an unPIE to a PIE involves crossing the "recognition barrier." The injured party then must attribute responsibility to another party ("blaming") which involves crossing the "attribution barrier." Once responsibility has been externalized and a potentially responsible party identified, the injured party may either choose to "lump it" (i.e., do nothing-see Felstiner 1974) or approach the other party either directly or through an agent, and communicate a complaint and/or a claim ("claiming" or crossing the "confrontation barrier"). While this is as far as one needs to go for purposes of this paper, one can go on to describe additional steps: a dispute emergences if the claim/complaint is not immediately satisfied at which point the grievant can abandoned the claim (lump it), seek to resolve the claim bilaterally (including mediated negotiation), or invoke some adjudicatory mechanism.

Actual litigation occurs only when efforts to resolve problems prior to initiating formal action fail, although in some situations a grievant may commence litigation before making any attempt to resolve the matter. However, except in situations

where the grievance arises in response to a formal institutional decision (e.g., a decision regarding eligibility for government benefits), understanding the propensity to sue must start with an understanding of the decision to seek redress of a grievance (i.e., the decision to complain or claim). Hence, the "propensity to sue" is best understood in terms of the propensity to claim.

The framework above is a model and hence an abstraction from a more complex reality. The attribution of blame may be more or less automatic in some situations and a claim or complaint may be implied by events rather than needing to be explicitly communicated. An injured party may seek a range of assistance, both in terms of assessing whether someone else is to blame and in asserting a claim or complaint. For example, Lloyd-Bostock (1984) points out that blaming may be a consequence of a decision to seek compensation rather than an antecedent. A similar issue arises in connection with assistance seeking (Genn 1999, pp. 67-103), including whether the injured party employs an agent, usually in the form of a legal professional (Kritzer 2008, 2010). One early analysis (Miller and Sarat 1980-81) treated seeking legal representation as a step in the process that came after a dispute had been established (i.e., blame had been externalized and a claim had been made but not accepted); in practice, legal representation can enter the picture at any of the stages of the process after an injurious experience has been perceived. A third complication is the distinction between a complaint and a claim. Strictly speaking, there is a difference because one can make a complaint without actually requesting any type of redress (i.e., without making a claim). However, in the context of the types of problems that may lead to legal redress, if is probably appropriate to treat complaints as implicit claims (see Kritzer et al. 1991b). Hence in the discussion that follows, I will generally refer to both complaints and claims simply as claims.

The metaphor that has been commonly used in analyses of the emergence of litigation is that of the "dispute pyramid" (Engel and Steele 1979, pp. 300, 317-18, Miller and Sarat 1980-81, pp. 544-546).¹ The base of the pyramid consists of all injurious experiences; the next level is perceived injurious experiences, then grievances, then disputes, then litigation, and then appeals. In some presentations, assistance-seeking such as consulting or hiring a lawyer appears as one level in the pyramid. In practical terms, actual representations of dispute pyramids start with either perceived injurious experiences or with grievances, either of which may be referred to as "problems." As I will discuss below, one of the central findings of the research on claiming is that the shape of the dispute pyramid varies by type of problem. Figure 1 provides an example of several dispute pyramids from a recent study done in Japan (Murayama 2007).

Empirical research on claiming behavior tends to focus on one of two broad questions. First, what is the shape of the dispute pyramid? That is,

- What is the frequency of (perceived) problems?
- What is the probability of a problem becoming a grievance?
- What is the probability of a claim being made?
- What is the probability that a claim becomes a dispute?
- What is the probability that a dispute leads to formal legal action?
- What is the probability that legal action moves to an appeal?

¹ Almost certainly the pyramid metaphor originated prior to 1979.Hart and Sacks refer to the "Great Pyramid of Legal Order" in "The Legal Process" (1994, pp. 286-287) which, while not published until 1994, circulated in manuscript starting by 1958. According to one source, "Hart and Sacks were already working on the Legal Process course materials by 1954" (Feldman 2000, p. 241n96).



FIGURE 1: Examples of Dispute Pyramids

Central to these analyses is how dispute pyramids vary by type of problem and by country (or possibly subregions of countries).

The second major question one finds in the literature on claiming (and propensity to sue more broadly) is what variables explain variations in claiming behavior at the individual and/or aggregate level? Typically the analyses focus specifically on the issue of claiming assuming that blaming has occurred. Little empirical research has been done on attribution of blame. As will be discussed in a later section, analyses have considered individual as well as institutional factors that might explain variations in claiming behavior.

3. Research Traditions and Methodologies

Studies of claiming behavior evolved out of two closely related research themes: access to justice and legal needs. The former focused on whether individuals were able to obtain redress for their legal problems and the latter focused on whether individuals were able to obtain expert legal assistance to deal with legal issues they experienced.

There are a variety of ways that researchers have approached the broad question of claiming behavior, although not all were framed in terms of the issue of initiating formal legal action.

Source: Murayama (2007, p. 30).

3.1. Types of Studies

3.1.1. Legal Needs

An early line of studies, one that continues today, focuses on "legal needs"; that is, what types of legal issues do citizens encounter, and do they get the legal assistance that they need to deal with those problems? The surveys that are the basis of most legal needs studies ask questions about a range of legal issues many of which involve transactional issues such real estate purchase or sale, drafting a contract, adoption of a child, establishing a guardianship, preparing a will, or succession (inheritance) after the death of a family member. However, many of the problems asked about in the surveys are contentious, and hence may get into questions about how individuals dealt with such problems beyond the simple question of whether or not they were able to obtain legal assistance.

While legal needs may go unmet regardless of financial resources, a central focus of studies of legal needs is the relationship between income and whether a lawyer was used. With only a few exceptions (e.g., Curran 1977, and possibly Mayhew and Reiss 1969),² these studies have limited the income range of the subjects (usually survey respondents) included in the study (Abel-Smith *et al.* 1973 {England}, Cass and Sackville 1975 {Australia}, Schuyt *et al.* 1976 {the Netherlands}, American Bar Association 1994 {the U.S.}, Coumarelos *et al.* 2006 {Australia}).³ Some of the studies (e.g., American Bar Association 1994, Currie 2006) consider how low and moderate income respondents differ in their response to legal needs. However, those analyses also tend to lump all problems together rather than looking separately at different types of problems, an analytic issue that turns out to be very important.

3.1.2. Dispute Processing

There have been three studies (Miller and Sarat 1980-81, FitzGerald 1983, Bogart and Vidmar 1990) that had a specific focus dispute processing, all explicitly building on the dispute pyramid metaphor. Using survey methods, these studies asked about a range of types of problems, and showed how patterns in dispute development differed by type of problem. All three studies defined as their purview "middle range disputes" which were defined as involving some minimum level monetary stakes (e.g., at least \$1,000) or some other type of significant problem. Two of the studies included multivariate analyses of claiming behavior with predictor variables including problem type, demographics (including income), prior legal experience, and type of opposing party. Some of the key findings from these studies will be discussed below.

In addition to these general studies there have been a variety of more focused studies examining how people deal with specific kinds of problems. One area that has received a lot of attention is consumer problems, both by legal scholars and by researchers interested in consumer behavior more generally (Warland *et al.* 1975, Best and R.Andreasenn 1977, Day and Hunt 1978, Best 1981, Ladinsky and Susmilch 1985, Office of Fair Trading 1986, Vidmar 1988); in fact for those working in the latter tradition there is a specialized journal, *Journal of Consumer Satisfaction, Dissatisfaction & Complaining Behavior*, published now on an annual basis.⁴ Two related areas that have received significant attention from scholars are discrimination (Bumiller 1987, Bumiller 1988, Kritzer *et al.* 1991b, Hirsh and Kornrich 2008) and sexual harassment (Quinn 2000, Marshall 2003, Marshall 2005,

 $^{^2}$ See Curran (1977, pp. 1-9) for a review of early legal needs survey, the first of which (Clark and Corstvet 1938) was carried out in the 1930s, although the issue of the legal needs of the poor was discussed in earlier writings (see Wood 1916, Smith 1919).

³ In the period since 1990 there have been a number of state-level legal needs studies in the United States (see Kritzer 2008, pp 905-06, for a list). all of which have limited their samples to low and moderate income individuals or households.

⁴ In is important to note that the very extensive literature on consumer complaining is motivated by an interest in marketing rather than legal process.

Blackstone *et al.* 2009). One other area where there has been at least one study looking at the decisions of grievants to seek redress is medical negligence (May and Stengel 1990).⁵

3.1.3. Litigation Rates

Probably the most widely used approach to assessing claiming patterns is to examine litigation rates (number of cases per some unit of population). There have been longitudinal studies at both national and subnational levels (Grossman and Sarat 1975, McIntosh 1980-81, Daniels 1982, Daniels 1984, Daniels 1985, McIntosh 1989, Van Loon and Langerwerf 1990, Wollschläger 1990, Wollschläger 1997), cross-national studies (Galanter 1983, Blankenburg 1992, Blankenburg 1998, Wollschläger 1998), and at least in the United States studies comparing subnational units (Grossman *et al.* 1982, Yates *et al.* 2001, Jacobi 2009, Yates *et al.* 2010). Some of the studies are purely description, documenting differences and trends in litigation rates (i.e., patterns of secular increase, cyclical patterns, etc.). Other studies have taken a more analytic approach, examining the relationship between patterns in litigation rates and economic, political, and/or social variables.

Litigation rates are at best indirect indicators of claiming because, using the dispute pyramid metaphor, the invocation of formal legal proceedings is higher up in the pyramid than is claiming. The relationship between claiming rates and litigation rates varies depending on the type of problem and a wide variety of institutional and other contextual variables. Nonetheless, in policy debates litigation patterns and claiming patterns frequently get confused, with the former being treated as if it were the latter.

A key problem that arises in such studies, particularly those that compare jurisdictions, is the definition of what should and should not be included, which can make a large difference in how jurisdictions look when compared. For example, if one defines the relevant court as "general jurisdiction courts" in the United States (omitting limited jurisdiction courts-those that handle only matters below some specific dollar threshold), one might observe large differences among states simply as an artifact of where the line is drawn between limited and general jurisdiction courts; in one state limited jurisdiction courts may hear cases up to \$10,000 while in another the limit may be \$25,000, and in yet another there be no limited jurisdiction courts so that general jurisdiction courts handle even the smallest cases. Similar problems can crop up with longitudinal comparisons, arising both as a result of inflation and as a result of jurisdictional changes made to adjust for inflation. Cross-national comparisons can be even more problematic because of differing definitions of what goes to "court" as opposed to other kinds of adjudicatory bodies; a good example is found in Wollschläger's (1998) crossnational comparison in which Germany emerges as the most litigious by a substantial margin. The high litigation rate for Germany may simply reflect that Wollschläger included labor courts when he calculated the rate for Germany while in the other countries the kinds of matters dealt with by German labor courts go to some sort of administrative tribunal and hence did not get counted in those countries' litigation rates. Alternatively, there may be significantly higher litigation rates in Germany (even controlling for what is and is not counted) due to the prevalence of legal expense insurance (see Kilian 2003; Blankenberg 1994, 1998).

Another issue that can arise concerns the quality of the institutional data that are the basis for litigation rate studies. Particularly when data flow into a central aggregating authority there can be major issues of data quality. Moreover, data collection systems change over time as technologies change, and those systems can affect the information collected. For cross national studies (or cross state studies in the U.S. and other federal systems), the quality of data collection

⁵ In unpublished work, Tom Durkin (1991) examined these questions in the context of asbestos related disease.

systems may vary from one place to another to a degree that comparisons are problematic.

3.1.4. Compensation Studies

There have been at least three contemporary studies (Royal Commission on Civil Liability and Compensation for Personal Injury 1978, Harris *et al.* 1984, Hensler *et al.* 1991)⁶ that were designed specifically to examine whether and how persons suffering physical injuries (including certain types of illness) obtained compensation for their expenses and lost income due to those injuries.⁷ The injuries involved in these studies, located by survey methods, may have occurred in the home, at work, on the road, or on someone else's property. While most of the injuries examined did not involve events where a blameworthy third-party bore legal liability, all of the studies did include analyses of what injured persons did when someone else was potentially liable for the injury. A central focus (and finding) was that people behaved differently depending on whether the injury occurred in a road accident, at or in connection with work, or in the home, with claiming most likely in connection with a road traffic accident, and least likely if the injury occurred in the home.⁸

3.1.5. Justiciable Problem Studies

Hazel Genn (1999) developed an approach that is something of a cross between the legal needs study and the dispute study that she labeled the study of "nontrivial justiciable problems." A justiciable problem arises from a "justiciable event" which is defined as a matter "which raised legal issues, whether or not it was recognised by the respondent as being 'legal' and whether or not any action taken by the respondent to deal with the event involved the use of any part of the civil justice system" (p. 12). An event is deemed trivial if it a respondent reports taking no action whatsoever because the problem was not regarded as important enough to take any action; certain types of problems may be deemed nontrivial regardless of what the respondent did in response to the problem (e.g., divorce, or being threatened with or subject to legal proceedings). Justiciable problem studies go beyond dispute studies because they are not focused on locating disputes and the stop short of legal needs studies because they omit transactional needs such as real estate sale or purchase, adoption, or drawing up a will. Studies based on the justiciable problem approach have been carried out in a variety of countries including England (Pleasence et al. 2003, Pleasence et al. 2004b, Pleasence et al. 2006), Scotland (Genn and Paterson 2001), Canada (Currie 2006, Currie 2009, Currie 2010), the Netherlands (van Velthoven and ter Voert 2004), Hong Kong (Hong Kong Department of Justice 2008), Bulgaria (Gramatikov 2008), and Slovakia (see Hadfield 2010, pp. 136-37).⁹ The Japanese dispute study, carried out by a team of researchers led by Masayuki Murayama (see Murayama 2007¹⁰),

⁶ See Kritzer (1991) for an analysis that explicitly compares results using these three studies.

⁷ The Royal Commission had as its goal to assess the working of the tort system and consider alternatives. However, as part of its work, the Commission had a survey conducted that spoke more broadly to compensation issues, and collected data on whether injured persons attributed blame to someone else and whether the sought compensation from that other party.

⁸ In addition to the general compensation studies, there have been specialized studies examining compensation in specific areas, particularly auto accidents. Such studies have been done in the US (Committee to Study Compensation for Automobile Accidents 1932, Connard *et al.* 1964, Meyer 1968, Rolph *et al.* 1983), the Netherlands (Bloembergen and van Wersch 1973), and Japan (Tanase 1990). Such studies have also been done focused on medical negligence in the US (Danzon 1984, Weiler *et al.* 1992, McMahon *et al.* 1994) and England (Genn 1995).

⁹ Prior to Genn's work there were a number of studies that could be described as justiciable problem studies in that they examined how various kinds of grievances were dealt with. Areas covered by this research include auto accidents (Hunting and Neuwirth 1962), medical negligence (May and Stengel 1990, Sloan and Hsieh 1995), and consumer problems (Best 1981, Vidmar 1988).

¹⁰ Murayama and his colleagues published a three volume report of the research in Japanese in 2010; the translated title of the set is *Civil Justice and Dispute Resolution in Contemporary Japan*. Volume 1 focuses on "Legal Attitudes and Disputing Behavior"; Volume 2 focuses on Trouble Experience and Advice Seeking Behavior"; and Volume 3 focuses on "Litigation Experience and Litigation Behavior."

combined elements of the justiciable problems approach with elements of the older dispute processing approach.

3.1.6. Community Studies

A final approach, which overlaps into methodologies, is the community study. These studies, which grew out of anthropological research on dispute handling in African and other less developed settings (Gluckman 1955, Hoebel 1961, Nader 1969, Nader and Todd 1978), involved intensive interaction with a specific community, whether defined geographically (Engel 1980, Engel 1983, Engel 1984, Yngvesson 1988, Yngvesson 1993) or in some other way (e.g., a church community, Greenhouse 1982, Greenhouse 1986). A general thrust of the analyses was that, in contrast to the image of the "litigious American," community members were reluctant to pursue legal remedies for many types of legal problems, viewing such actions as reflecting their own inability to deal with misfortune; this was particularly true for injuries suffered in accidents, even if the accident was someone else's fault (for a synthesis of three of the studies, see Greenhouse *et al.* 1994). One exception was contract problems where the expectation that people would abide by their explicit commitments allowed those who felt that a commitment had been breached to turn to legal means for redress (Engel 1984).

3.2. Research Methodologies

While I alluded to research methodologies in discussing the broad approaches to studying claiming and complaining, it is important to list and explicate those methods: structured surveys, institutional records, ethnography, and semi-structured individual and group interviews (focus groups).

The most widely applied method is random population surveys, sometimes restricted to a particular segment of the population (e.g., those below some income threshold) or stratified to insure that certain groups are sufficiently represented to permit valid statistical analyses. These surveys sometimes involve a two step process: first a large scale screening survey to locate respondents with the types of problems of interest (defined by seriousness, timing, particular kind, etc.) which is then followed by a more detailed interview focusing on one or more of the problems identified in the screening survey. In some cases the two stages are combined into a single interview with some procedure whereby the interviewer selects specific problems for detailed, follow-up questions. While most surveys have been done inperson or over the telephone, at least one recent study (from the Netherlands) has relied on a survey conducted via the internet.

Institutional records are the basis of litigation rate studies. Usually those records have been compiled into statistical reports by some administrative office. As noted above, the quality of institutional records and associated reports may be highly variable and categories used for summaries may be inconsistent across institutions and/or over time. Institutional records are also used in some studies to identify persons who experienced particular kinds of problems in order that these persons can then be interviewed about their experience and decision-making process; one problem with this is that all of those who sought redress through the institution have claimed. Even when institutional records are used for something other than litigation rate studies, they typically involve situations where someone has initiated a claim or filed a complaint (e.g., insurance closed claim records). One unique way that institutional records have been used to identify patients who experienced a compensable injury that occurred in the course of medical treatment; researchers then seek to determine whether those who were injured made claims.

The community studies described above all relied upon ethnographic methods. In these studies the researcher spent substantial time in the community being studied engaging in a combination of observation and ethnographic interviewing. In some

cases the researchers also looked at court records to document patterns in court use. However, the primary data gathered for analysis were in the form of detailed field notes and perhaps transcripts of some interviews.

The last method, semi-structured interviewing was not explicit in any of the broad approaches described above. However, such methods have been used either in combination with either surveys or ethnography or on a stand-alone basis. When used in combination with surveys, semi-structured interviews are an invaluable method to "get behind" the patterns revealed in the survey data (as an example, see Bumiller 1988).¹¹ Semi-structured interviews can also be used on their own if one can identify a sample of potential respondents who have experienced a specific type of problem to explore how the respondents dealt with the problem including whether or not they claimed or complained (as an example, see May and Stengel 1990, Marshall 2005). Semi-structured interviews may include as part of the interview some structured questions that facilitate certain types of comparisons (see Ewick and Silbey 1998)

4. Explaining Variations in Claiming Behavior

4.1. The Incidence of Grievances

A first question one might want to ask about the incidence of grievances that could lead to claims is how that incidence might vary across countries.¹² These comparisons are difficult to make given that specific study designs tend to vary in terms of (1) the time frame respondents are asked about (ranging from one to five years), (2) whether questions are asked about the individual or the household, (3) the list of specific problems asked about, and (4) the seriousness threshold used for inclusion. Occasional studies do undertake such comparisons. For example, using the dispute processing approach, Fitzgerald (1983, pp. 24-26) compared the incidence of grievances in Australia and the United States circa 1980, finding that Australians tended to be more likely to report tort, consumer and governmentrelated grievances than were residents of the United States with the reverse for discrimination problems (there were essentially no differences for property, landlord, or post-divorce problems). Genn and Paterson (2001, pp. 83-84) provide a comparison of England and Scotland, finding that respondents to the Scottish screening survey reported fewer experiences of each problem type than did the respondents in England and Wales; they authors are unsure whether the difference reflects the frequency of actual problems or differences due to reporting patterns attributable to what I would label cultural norms

One theme in the legal needs studies and the later justiciable problems studies is how the incidence of problems varies by demographic factors. Curran (1977, pp. 99-134) provides an extensive analysis along these lines showing that the number of legal needs (not all of which are contentious) varies by age, income, gender, and race. She finds that the overall frequency of problems has a curvilinear relationship with age, peaking for those in the 35-55 age groups;¹³ this is not surprising given that those in this age range will be dealing with children, home ownership, and other issues more than those both older and younger. She finds that the number of problems tends to increase with income, although it is not clear whether this is true

¹¹ Semi-structured interviews are also used for exploratory purposes at the beginning of a project. For survey studies, such interviews are often employed as part of the process of developing the survey instrument. Genn has spoken of the "quant sandwich" by which she means first using semi-structured interviews to develop the survey instrument, then doing the survey and preliminary analyses of the survey data, and then doing semi-structured interviews to understand better what those analyses mean (see Halliday and Schmidt 2009, p. 231).

¹² If one modifies the dispute pyramid so that the base is the household or individual and the next level grievance (i.e., builds into the pyramid the *question* of the frequency of disputes), the pyramid is transformed into a pagoda (see Michelson 2007).

¹³ This curvilinear relationship with age is a pattern reported in other studies (see, for example, Pleasence *et al.* 2004a).

if the focus was limited to contentious matters (i.e., excluded transactional issues such as writing wills, buying and selling property, and the like, all of which tend to be more likely as income rises). Curran also provides a series of separate analyses for broad problem types (real property, employment, consumer matters, marital matters, torts, government issues, etc.). Generally, after controlling for problem type, Curran found mostly very modest relationships between experiencing specific problems and demographic factors; perhaps surprisingly, this was even true for "infringement of constitutional rights" (pp. 120-122).

The first of the studies done in the dispute processing tradition (Miller and Sarat 1980-81, pp. 547-51) also examined the relationship between various demographic factors (income, education, age, gender, ethnicity, family size) as well as specific risk factors (home ownership and the like) and prior use of a lawyer. Their conclusion was that "[o]verall, the independent variables do not account for much of the variation in grievance experiences." They did find that certain specific factors did correlate with specific types of grievances (race vis-à-vis discrimination, home ownership vis-à-vis property problems), but even these relationships were not particularly strong.

In her study of justiciable problems in England, Genn compares key demographic characteristics of those who experienced various types of problems to the demographic characteristics of the population as a whole (1999, pp. 59-65). She does find some differences. For example, the income distribution of those reporting consumer problems was more heavily weighted toward higher incomes than was true of the overall population (i.e., the likelihood of significant consumer problems were more likely to be home owners and more likely to have higher educational qualifications. She reports various differences for other types of problems. However, none of the differences she describes suggests that there are strong relationships between demographic variables and experiencing problems, and many of the differences she describes seem quite logical; it is not surprising that those with higher incomes experience more significant purchases of consumer goods, which in turn increases their exposure to potential problems with major consumer purchases.

Michelson (2007) conducted a survey in several areas of rural China (six provinces), and examined what factors might account for grievance experience. He found that grievances were most prevalent in economically distressed areas. He also found that families that had strong social connections to local government officials were less likely to experience grievances (and more likely to mobilize the official justice system when they did have grievances).

Perhaps the most interesting finding with regard to the incidence of problems is what Genn (1999, pp. 31-36; see also Genn and Paterson 2001, pp. 44-48) describes as problem "clusters." By this she means that certain types of problems often cluster in the sense that if a person or household experiences one type of problem in the cluster they are more likely to experience others. A simple example would be that someone experiencing a significant injury might be unable to work which in turn creates money problems and possibly puts significant pressure on family relationships. Drawing on data collected from households surveyed as part of the Legal Services Research Centre's Periodic Survey of Justiciable Problems (a study series modeled after Genn's 1999 study), Pleasence et al. (2004a) did a hierarchical cluster analysis of over 4,000 problems, classified into 21 problem types, reported by survey participants. They found that 17 percent had experienced two or more problems (something under half of those who experienced at least one problem). The analysis identified distinct clusters of problems around family issues, homelessness (which includes problems with the police), medical negligence combined with mental health problems, and a core cluster involving consumer

issues, money and debt, employment, and neighbors.¹⁴ Of those with multiple problems, 73 percent fell within one or more of the problem clusters with the remainder experiencing a "random set of problems". Pleasence et al. then identified respondents who experienced each cluster, and performed multivariate analyses to see what factors were associated with the clusters. This analysis revealed that older respondents (over 60) were less likely to have problems in the family cluster, economically "inactive" respondents were more likely to have problems associated with homelessness, and those with long-term illness or disability had were more likely to have problems in the medical negligence/mental illness cluster. Thus, in the words of Pleasence et al, "justiciable problems do not necessarily occur in isolation."¹⁵

4.2. Why People Say They Don't Claim or Complain

Overall, those who have problems are quite likely to voice claims and/or take action in some way:

- Curran (1977, p. 136) reports that for 16 of 22 broad problem types, 80 percent or more of those encountering the problem took some action to solve it, and only for eviction and job discrimination did fewer than 50 percent report taking action.
- Miller and Sarat (1980-81, p. 551) observe that "most, but by no means all, grievances result in a claim for redress."
- Genn (1999, p. 69) reports that "only a very small proportion failed to take any kind of action to deal with their justiciable problems (one in twenty)."¹⁶

Before turning to the statistical analyses of claiming behavior in the following section, one might ask how the respondents themselves explained why they did not claim or complain. Many of the studies asked open-ended questions along the lines of "why did you not complain?" (the exact form of the question varies from study to study), and then grouped or coded the responses along a set of themes (see Harris *et al.* 1984, pp. 70-76, Bumiller 1987, pp. 425-26, Vidmar 1988, pp. 780-82, Bogart and Vidmar 1990, p. 30, Hensler *et al.* 1991, pp. 169-70, American Bar Association 1994, p. 25 (low income), 46 (moderate income), Genn 1999, pp. 106-35, Currie 2010, pp. 56-57). Common responses to this question include:

- The respondent did not feel that taking action would make any difference. ("nothing could be done")
- The respondent did not want the hassle of dealing with the problem.
- The respondent had removed him or herself from the context where the problem occurred (i.e., left the job, moved, changed service providers, etc.)
- The problem had sorted itself out in some way
- Reluctance to disrupt valued relationships (e.g., with a neighbour)
- Costs of obtaining necessary legal assistance
- Fear of potential negative consequences of complaining
- Did know whom to complain to

Vidmar (1988, see also, Kritzer *et al.* 1991b, pp. 885-86) relates the decisions not to complain in part to ideas that Hirschman (1970) labeled "exit, voice, and loyalty"; some of the above explanations relate to the ability to exit and some to what might be labeled loyalty (e.g., to friends and neighbors). It is likely that the

¹⁴ Currie (2010, pp. 42-55) reports very similar patterns for Canada.

¹⁵ Further exploration of the cluster phenomenon can be found in Buck et al. (2004), Buck et al. (2005), Balmer et al. (2006), Pleasence and Balmer (2007), and Pleasence et al. (2008)

¹⁶ Genn is referring only to problems deemed to be "nontrivial." A problem was deemed trivial if no action was taken because the respondent did not feel the problem was "important enough to warrant action" or when respondents reported that "they were not in dispute or believed the others side was right" (Genn 1999, p. 36).

distribution of these explanations varies by problem type (some of the studies provide at least some indication of this), but the analyses tend to be too brief to allow strong conclusions on this point regarding such variation or the basis of the respondents' explanations for inaction.

4.3. Factors Influencing Claiming

4.3.1. Contextual Characteristics—Type of Problem

I now turn to the question of what factors best account for decisions to seek redress of legal problems. Across a range of studies applying various survey approaches and undertaken in a variety of different countries there is a consistent finding that the single most important factor accounting for whether citizens seek redress for their legal problems is type of problem: ¹⁷

- "The results of the multivariate analysis confirm that problem type tends to swamp other considerations ..." (Genn 1999, p. 141).
- "The extent to which persons consulted lawyers about their problems or sought alternative sources of advice or help varied widely by the type of problem involved" (Curran 1977, p. 138; see particularly Curran's Figure 4.29, p. 143).
- "Levels of claiming vary substantially with the type of problem" (Bogart and Vidmar 1990, p. 48).
- "The [results] indicate very strongly that by far the most powerful explanatory factor for the various aspects of disputing behavior is the actual type of grievance involved (e.g., tort, consumer, post-divorce)" (Fitzgerald 1983, p. 39).

Importantly, there are striking similarities in cross national patterns by problem type. Fitzgerald (1983, p. 39) compared the rate of claiming for the United States and Australia (Victoria State) for seven types of problems; only for discrimination problems was there a sharp difference, and for four of the problem types there was little difference at all.

Figure 2 shows a comparison of disputing behavior for six problem types for the United States (Miller and Sarat 1980-81), Canada (Bogart and Vidmar 1990), Australia (FitzGerald 1983), and Japan (Murayama 2007). With some exceptions, the most striking aspect of the figure is the cross-national similarity when one looks within problem type.

Most of the studies of claiming behavior group problems into broad categories such as those shown in Figure 2. The significance of problem type as a predictor of the response to the problem is shown to be even stronger by studies that broke down the problem types further and examined differences in behavior for the subtypes.¹⁸ These studies show that within broad problem types, the problem *subtype* is the major predictor of claiming behavior. For example, in looking at injury problems, the distinction among road traffic accidents, workplace accidents, and other accidents is by far the best predictor of claiming behavior (Kritzer *et al.* 1991a, see also Sabry 2004), and looking at discrimination problems, the best predictor is the

¹⁷ Miller and Sarat (1980-81, p. 561) observe that "with the exception of discrimination and tort problems, claiming and disputing rates are relatively similar among different types of problems." Nonetheless, their statistical analysis of claiming behavior shows that demographic and resource variables reduce predictive error vis-à-vis claiming behavior by only 2.5 percent while adding in problem type increases this to 24 percent.

¹⁸ Some studies have examined other characteristics of the problems, such as the amount at stake and the nature of the opposing party (i.e., individual vs. organization), and found that they have some association with disputing behavior (see FitzGerald 1983, p. 39).



FIGURE 2: Responses to Legal Problems in Four Countries

NOTE: A dispute exists when a person with a grievance asserts a claim (a request for redress) and that claim is not immediately satisfied. For sources, see discussion in text. **Source**: Kritzer (2008, p. 879).

context in which the discrimination took place—job, education, or housing (Kritzer *et al.* 1991b).¹⁹

What accounts for the variation across problem types and the relative similarity within problem types cross-nationally? In their study of using lawyers, Mayhew and Reiss (1969, p. 312) speak in terms of "the social organization of the institutional arena subject to legal regulation." While they relate this to the nature of legal practice (not surprising since they specifically focus on contacting lawyers in connection with legal problems), the broader implication is there is something fundamental about the nature of different problem areas. Perhaps the best way to think about this is to recognize that a dispute is fundamentally a social relationship, and that social relationships take on different characteristics depending on the context in which the relationship is formed, what value is placed on the relationship, whether the relationship is pre-existing, and whether one or more parties to the relationship desire to continue it.

Perhaps the best evidence in support of the role of the social context of the disputing relationship is the analyses of problem subtype discussed above. It is clearest in the analysis of discrimination problems that compares claiming behavior in the US, Canada, and Australia. For all three countries, claiming is least likely in issues of housing discrimination (i.e., discrimination in the rental or sale of housing), the area where exit (i.e., to go elsewhere) is easiest and there is no existing relationship to maintain. It is most likely for education discrimination. Discrimination related to employment falls in between. For Canada and Australia, employment-related discrimination is further broken down into being denied or losing a job, conditions of employment (including salary), and other types of employment discrimination. Claiming is most likely when the issue is salary or

¹⁹ An unpublished analysis that examined consumer problems as a subtype found that the best predictor was whether the problem was a major purchase, a nonprofessional service, or a professional service (see Kritzer *et al.* 1991c [available at <u>https://netfiles.umn.edu/users/kritzer/www/research/MPSA-1991.pdf]</u>).

conditions of employment, and considerably less likely for other types of employment-related discrimination.²⁰

One caveat worth noting here is that within a given type problem, all grievances are not created equal. That is, from the potential claimant's perspective some grievances may be more important than others. One simple example of this deals with the significance of the injury in a tort-type case. Hensler et al. (1991, pp. 165-66) report that "[t]hose who feel their injury was extremely serious are ... six times as likely to take some injury, as those who feel their injury was not at all serious. Those who feel their injury had a very important effect on their household are [also] six times as likely to take some action, as those who say the injury had little or no effect on their household." In an earlier article I report a study that found that the only factor other than problem type that had a substantial impact on employing a lawyer in connection with a legal problem was the amount at stake (see Kritzer 2008, pp. 898-900).

4.3.2. Individual Characteristics

Whenever one focuses on the behavior of individuals the question of the impact of individual characteristics inevitably arises. These individual characteristics can include various demographic characteristics (income, education, age, race, gender),²¹ prior experiences and other kinds of resources (e.g., personal contacts), and psychological factors (broadly defined to include personality and attitudinal measures). The research on claiming behavior has extensively explored the relationships of that behavior to demographics and various resource variables. Very little work has been done examining psychological factors.

Many but not means all (see FitzGerald 1983, p. 39) analyses report at least some relationship between one or more of the demographic variables and taking action in response of legal problems. For example, while Genn reports that "the results of the multivariate analysis confirm that problem type tends to swamp other considerations" she goes on to say that "some personal factors, such as level of education, are [also] important" (Genn 1999: 141). Miller and Sarat (1980-81, p. 553) report multivariate analyses within problem types, and find some individual characteristics important for some problems, but there is no clear pattern.²²

Analyses also examine other types of personal resources such as experience and contacts. Again, with one notable exception, while specific relationships are uncovered here and there (e.g., those with a prior dispute experience or who have previously used a lawyer may be more likely to claim for some types of problems), no clear pattern is evident in the various studies. The notable exception is Michelson's finding in his study conducted in 37 villages across six provinces of China that families with strong political connections were more likely to pursue grievances than were families without such connections (Michelson 2007).²³

As noted above, few studies have sought to examine the potential role of psychological variables on claiming behavior, and what has been done does not show strong relationships.²⁴ For example, in their recent study of responses to

²⁰ Further analyses of the data discussed by Kritzer et al. (1991b, p. 885) "teased out few relationships between individual level factors and complaining/claiming behavior.

²¹ See Sandefur (2008) for an overview of research on race, class and gender influences on access to

civil justice. ²² Murayama and his colleagues have reported on additional results (not yet published in English) from the study summarized in Murayama (2007); these results show that most socio-economic variables do not predict claiming behavior; social capital and legal experience variables do seem to have some relationship but those relationships are fairly weak.

³ Studies that have focused on what might be thought of as the next step n the dispute pyramid, seeking legal assistance, have also found little connection between demographic variables and seeking such assistance (see Mayhew and Reiss 1969; Curran 1977, pp. 147-158; Kritzer 2008).

²⁴ The Japanese dispute study includes some variables that reflect attitudes toward legal institutions and legal practices (e.g., reliance on contract), but it would be difficult to label these variables as psychological in the sense described in this paragraph.

sexual harassment, Blackstone et al. (2009) included a measure for personal efficacy (a person's belief about his or her own ability to obtain a desired result), but found that it had no relationship with seeking redress. The most extensive examination of psychological factors was done by Vidmar and Schuller (1987) who report a series of four studies examining "claim propensity," which they measured as a combination of six components: aggressiveness, competitiveness, assertiveness, perceptions of control, preference for risk, and preference for winning over compromise. The four studies involved both surveys and an experiment using university students. From these studies they found that differences in the proclivity to report experiencing problems and to engage in claiming behavior were positively associated with their measure of claim propensity. One study compared the claim propensity measure for individuals who had taken a case to small claims court to those with no experience with small claims court; that study found that the court users scored significantly higher on claim propensity than did nonusers. What is unknown is whether the higher propensity score let to or resulted from taking a case to court.²⁵

4.3.3. Institutional Characteristics

To what degree do institutional factors affect claiming patterns? The kinds of institution factors that might be important include:

- Damages through either case law standards (as exist in England and some other common law countries) or statutory limits (as exist in some of the American states, particularly in medical negligence cases)
- Costs, both pecuniary (e.g., court fees) and nonpecuniary (e.g., time required)
- The availability of legal representation (legal aid, legal expense insurance, no-win, no-pay fee systems)
- The nature of risks associated with claiming (loser pays fee systems)
- Limits on claiming (vis-à-vis tortfeasors) created by no-fault compensation systems
- Specific legal rules such as "joint and several liability" or those dealing with how contributory negligence impacts recoverability (i.e., whether it bars recovery or simply reduces recovery proportional to the claimant's own negligence)
- The role of the welfare state in providing alternative avenues of compensation (or in mitigating the need for claiming by providing benefits, such as medical care, as a social responsibility).

Some of these operate directly on the actions of potential claimants and others function by limiting access of legal assistance needed to bring claims. There has been a lot of speculation on the influence of these kinds of factors (e.g., Atiyah 1987, pp. 1019-27, Polinsky and Rubinfeld 1998), but empirical analyses are often difficult to conduct because of confounding factors.²⁶

Empirical research on these types of questions is generally done in one of three ways: cross-national comparisons (Blankenburg 1994), comparisons across the American states (Low and Smith 1992, Low and Smith 1995, Yablon 1996,

²⁵ Researchers working in the field of consumer complaining have devoted more attention to psychological and attitudinal factors including personality factors (Zaichkowsky and Liefeld 1977, Fornell and Westbrook 1979, Grabicke *et al.* 1982, Richens 1982, Nantel 1985); personal values (Morganosky and Buckley 1987, Rogers and Williams 1990); propensity to complain (Day and Landon 1977, Richens 1982), degree of consumer alienation (Beardon and Mason 1984); and attitudes toward complaining (Beardon and Crockett 1981, Day *et al.* 1981, Richens 1982, Day 1984, Beardon *et al.* 1989).

²⁶ A number of studies have related various institutional factors to the frequency of actual lawsuits, looking either cross-nationally (see Posner 1997, Boyle 2000) or across the American states (Grossman *et al.* 1982, Yates *et al.* 2001, Jacobi 2009). Recent work by Sean Farhang (2010) has traced the rise of certain types of lawsuits directly to the growth law that creates causes of action.

Abrahamse and Carroll 1999, Yates *et al.* 2010), or comparisons over time when institutional factors change (Weisberg and Derrig 1991). The results of this body of research—almost all of which has been done in the United States—are mixed, sometimes showing that the institutional differences affect claiming behavior and other times not showing such effects.

Some institutional factors clearly matter. Formal limits on the types of claims that can be filed do in fact affect claiming. For example Abrahamse and Carroll (1999, p. 138) show that road traffic accident tort claims tend to be much lower in the American states that place limits on such claims as part of no-fault insurance systems, and the reduction is greatest where the limits are the strongest.²⁷ For other kinds of limits, the evidence is more mixed (at least with regard to claiming). For example, Donohue and Ho (2007) find that limits on damages in malpractice cases have no impact on claims filing; in contrast, data from Harris County, Texas, show a sharp drop (approaching 50 percent) in filing of medical malpractice lawsuits in the wake of the passage in Texas of a limit on noneconomic damages in such cases (Daniels and Martin 2010).²⁸

While there is some quite convincing evidence regarding the impact of limits on damages, the evidence regarding other incentive elements does not necessarily demonstrate the effects that one might expect. A good example comes from England. As reflected in Atiyah's writing (Atiyah 1987), there is a perception that tort claims are less likely to be made in England than in the United States. While Atiyah cites many reasons that this may be true, one element is the availability of legal representation. Prior to 1995 such representation was not available (at least in theory) on a no-win, no-pay basis although a significant portion of the English population had means of obtaining third-party funding of representation (through legal aid, legal expense insurance, or as a union benefit); those who did not have access to third-party funding also had to be concerned about having to pay the defendant's costs should a claim go to litigation and prove unsuccessful. This situation changed in 1995, and then changed further in 1999. The key changes were (1) allowing solicitors to charge on a no-win, no-pay basis (through what in England is called a "conditional fee"), (2) the creation of "after-the-event" insurance that protects the claimant from having to pay the defendant's costs in an unsuccessful claim, and (3) making the higher fees paid for a conditional fee and the costs of the after-the-event insurance recoverable from the defendant in a successful claim.

In the wake of these changes, claims management companies developed which aggressively advertised for clients and then brokered those clients to solicitors as needed (Yarrow 2001, pp. 8-9). This advertising led to expressions of concern that England was developing a "compensation culture" marked by sharp increases in the likelihood that claims would be filed. The perception that a "compensation culture" had developed was fanned by the popular media (see Better Regulation Task Force 2004).²⁹ The relevant question here is whether in fact the frequency of claiming did

²⁷ The data source used by Abrahamse and Carroll is a study conducted by what is now known as the Insurance Research Council (IRC). This organization has done a series of closed claim studies of auto accident claims that provide a potential source of data for analyses that compare patterns across the American states. The IRC also publishes a periodic report detailing trends in auto injury claims, including the frequency of such claims (relative to the number of insured cards and relative to property damage claims); these trend data, which are by state, go back to 1980, and hence have a strong potential for assessing impact of change in legal rules as well as comparisons across states.

²⁸ Using lawsuit filings as a proxy for claiming is tricky because large numbers of claims are resolved without filing. Medical malpractice is one area where the filing of lawsuits is probably a reasonably good proxy for claim filing because the overwhelming majority of such claims end up in suit if they survive the initial screening by a lawyer. There is a significant body of research that examines the impact of institutional and political factors on the filing of lawsuits (Lee *et al.* 1994, Di Pietro and Carns 1996, p. 63, Schmit *et al.* 1997, Browne and Puelz 1999, Yates *et al.* 2001, Browne and Schmit 2008, Jacobi 2009, Yates *et al.* 2010).

²⁹ Morris (2007, p. 353) reports that "of over 2,000 reports in the (English) national press since 1993 featuring the term 'compensation culture, all but nineteen of them appeared after 1998."

increase in the wake of the changes making legal representation more available and removing the risks associated with seeking compensation? The best evidence on this is reported by Morris (see also Lewis et al. 2006, 2007). She uses data from the "Claims Recovery Unit", the agency charged seeking reimbursement for government benefits paid out to injury victims from tort recoveries obtained by those victims. These data show no clear pattern of increase in the number of claims between 2000 (when the last set of changes went into effect) and 2006; some types of claims increased while others decreased.³⁰ However, data subsequent to what is reported in Morris's article does show a sharp increase in the number of claims associated with road traffic accidents, with a 47% increase from 2005-06 to 2009-10 (from 460,097 to 674,997); none of the other categories (clinical negligence, work-related, or public liability) show patterns of increase.³¹ In fact, from 2000-01 through 2003-04 there was actually a decrease in the number of road traffic accident claims, and if one looks at the increase starting from 2003-04 through 2009-10, there is an 80 % increase over the period. The annual rate of increase has averaged 10% per year, but has varied between 8% and 14%. What accounts for the sharp increase? First, the evidence does not support the view that the introduction of a form of no-win, no-pay fee in 1995 itself led to significant changes in claiming behavior.³² However, the fact that those changes, plus additional changes in 1999, led to aggressive advertising by claims management companies,³³ does seem consistent with the pattern. To this one might also add the public discussion of the growth of a "compensation culture," which in itself would heighten claims consciousness and could account for some of the increased claiming. Thus, what one sees here might be best describe as indirect effects of institutional change; that is, the institutional changes created incentives for claims management companies to troll for potential claimants which in turn produced significant discussion about how public attitudes were changing, and those two elements taken together may have produced attitudinal and behavioral change.

Most of the work that has been done on the impact of institutional factors on claiming behavior has focused on tort claims. This probably reflects two issues. First, tort claims have been a major political issue in the United States for some time and have become something more of an issue in England in the wake of changes that started in 1995 described in the previous paragraph. Second, because of the existence of insurance for tort liability, data on the frequency of claims as distinct from filing lawsuits, are potentially available (and in some settings are routinely reported).³⁴ Outside of that area, obtaining information on claiming patterns requires what are often expensive and cumbersome data collection efforts. The result is that we know relatively little about the impact of institutional factors

³⁰ The data she reported do indicate significant increases from decades earlier for most types of claims (the major exception being claims related to accidents at work), but those increases appear to predate the institutional changes.

³¹ Figures for 2006-07 were provided to me by Annette Morris. Figures for later years were obtained from <u>http://www.dwp.gov.uk/other-specialists/compensation-recovery-unit/performance-and-</u> <u>statistics/performance-statistics/</u> [Accessed 2010 Jun 27].

³² A House of Commons committee reached a similar conclusion: "The statistics demonstrate that the number of claims has not risen since CFAs were introduced as the primary method of funding personal injury claims" (Constitutional Affairs Committee [House of Commons] 2006, pp. 11-12).

³³ Solicitors do not have a monopoly on representation in compensation claims; only once a claim becomes a formal court action are nonlawyers barred from representing claimants.

³⁴ One interesting institutional development that could increase claiming activity is the development of ombudsmen who serve as intermediaries between a complainant and a respondent. While most such ombudsman offices are designed to assist citizens with complaints and problems with government agencies (Hill 1976), there are ombudsman programs that provide mechanisms for resolving complaints with private entities (see Hannigan 1977, Fea 1983). One particularly interesting such program is the Financial Ombudsman Service (FOS) in England which assists consumers with problems with banks, insurers, and investment companies (Gilad 2008, Schwarcz 2009). The empirical question is whether the presence of an entity such as the FOS increases the willingness of aggrieved consumers to initiate complaints?

that apply beyond the tort arena (e.g., fee shifting, the availability of legal expense insurance, etc.)

The best summary of our current understanding of how claiming behavior is affected by institutional factors is that clearly those factors make some difference, particularly when they directly limit what claims can be filed. The impact of institutional factors that work indirectly through controlling the incentives to bring claims is murkier. Some research shows such effects, some does not, and we lack an understanding of what might condition whether or not such effects do occur.

4.3.4. Cultural Differences

How do cultural factors impact claiming behavior?³⁵ Here I use "culture" to refer to norms and expectations concerning what constitutes appropriate behavior.³⁶ At a crude level, some might characterize the differences between the response of Americans and the response of the English as reflecting English stoicism, the stereotype of the "stiff upper lip." Sorting out what differences might be labeled "cultural" is challenging because the research that raises these explanations for claiming behavior seldom has a design that permits strong inferences. Still, there are some patterns and research that are suggestive of cultural effects.

One analysis that could be seen as providing support for cultural differences as explaining claiming differences in England and the United States considered how blaming might factor into the decision to claim (Kritzer 1991). That study used several extant data sets to divide persons who had been injured into three groups: those who did not blame someone else for their injury, those who unambiguously blamed someone else for their injury, and those who were unsure whether someone else was responsible for their injury. There was relatively little difference in claiming behavior between the two countries for the first two groups, but there was a sharp difference for the third group. Americans who were unsure whether someone else should be blamed were much more likely to claim than were those similarly unsure about blaming in England. Conceivably the differences might reflect the greater risk associated with an unsuccessful claim in England, but the nature of the pattern does seem consistent with a cultural explanation.³⁷

There is a perception, and at least some evidence, that claiming is higher in urban environments than in rural settings (Daniels 1982, Patel et al. 2008). An anthropological study by David Engel in a nonurban community he called "Saunders County" provides insights on the cultural factors that might support this (Engel 1983, Engel 1984). Engel found local norms against seeking compensation for routine injuries even if someone else was arguably to blame. The local ethic was that one took care of oneself, and that one should not try to foist that responsibility on to others. According to Engel, this set of norms reflected rural living, and the inherent dangers associated with work common in such settings (i.e., farm work). Importantly, Engel did not find that there was a generalized norm against claiming, but that it was specific to personal injury. There did not appear to be norms against claiming when the matter arose from someone's failure to live up to a contract; in those circumstances claiming was acceptable because people were expected to abide by their promises and a contract constituted a promise. While the patterns the Engel reports have an understandable logic, it is difficult to draw strong conclusions, either that what he found generalizes to other nonurban communities or that these are real differences compared to urban setting. Moreover, even if the

³⁵ The frequently commented on "American litigiousness" is often traced to American culture (see Friedman 1985); one interesting analysis (Hoffer 1989) links this to American notions of honor

³⁶ Erhard Blankenberg (1994, 1998) uses the term culture to mean something different in his comparisons of the legal cultures of the Netherlands and Germany and the impact of those cultures on disputing behavior.

³⁷ This discussion has not dealt with the complexities of attributing responsibility. Is there a difference between "responsibility" and "blame" (Kritzer 1991), and how do any differences relate to expectations about who, if anyone, should provide redress?

differences are real, to what degree do they reflect norms and to what degree do they reflect ease of access of legal services or other types of assistance (Blacksell et al. 1991).

At least one study (Greenhouse 1986) suggests that the norms created within a community defined by religious and congregational affiliation might impact claiming behavior. In some ways this makes sense: of one's religious beliefs tell you that events are predetermined or reflect God's will those beliefs could lead adherents to view unfortunate events as something that is to be accepted and coped with as part of one's faith. Alternatively, religious beliefs might lead to the de-emphasis of conflict (see also Kidder and Hostetler 1990) which in turn could reduce claiming behavior. In contrast, religious beliefs could view debate and conflict as natural and positive, and communities of adherents to such beliefs could create their own mechanisms for dispute resolution (see Bernstein 1992, Richman 2006).

As suggested by the previous reference to the supposed "stiff upper lip" to be found in England, comparisons of claiming behavior across countries often reference differences in cultures (e.g., Markesinis 1990). Most prominently, Americans are seen as prone to seek redress for the slightest reason, while in contrast residents of other countries, Japan, for example, are seen as avoiding conflict and disputes (Kawashima 1973, Miyazawa 1987, Kidder and Hostetler 1990, but see Ginsburg and Hoetker 2006). The contrast of Japan and the United States is very sharp, and the differences are often attributed to culture although procedure may account for differences as well (Tanase 1990). As is true in other arenas, culture often seems to be a residual explanation: when other factors fail to account for differences in behavior, attribute behavioral patterns to culture. The challenge is getting at culture empirically. One interesting attempt to do this asked citizens of the United States and Japan to describe what the appropriate response would be to various situations, with the scenarios designed to get at the question of how individual responsibility is perceived in each country (Hamilton and Sanders 1992).³⁸ While the study does not directly deal with claiming behavior, it does demonstrate differences in perceptions of responsibility and methods of redress that are relevant to understanding any differences that appear to exist in claiming behavior in the two countries.

4.3.5. Future Research

As indicated in the preceding discussion, a number of findings have been consistently reported, both within and across countries. Most particularly, we know that individual characteristics (demographics, resources, experience, attitudes) are relatively weak predictors of claiming behavior (where they predict at all). The dominant factor in explaining claiming behavior is the type of issue in dispute with some additional exploratory power to be found in other problem characteristics such as the severity of injury or amount in dispute.

What then are the fertile areas for future research on claiming behavior? An obvious first step is to better understand why type of problem is so dominant in explaining claiming behavior. Does it genuinely reflect the relative ease of exit? How important is loyalty (including either a desire or a need to maintain a relationship)? Does it reflect specific norms and expectations within problem types (as described by Engel in his study of "Saunders County")? The best avenue of research to explore these kinds of questions is likely to be qualitative: creating "life histories" of disputes, group interviews where people can interact over their views, and ethnographic research to insure that the patterns are not specific to a particular group or setting.

³⁸ Later work (Sanders and Hamilton 1992) extended the research to include Russia.

A second area that requires much more work is research directed to understanding the role of attribution in the claiming process (see Coates and Penrod 1980-81; Hensler et al. 1991, p. 143). We use different terms in talking about this issue: blaming, responsibility, fault, and the like; each word has different implications, some invoking a moral connotation while others seem more neutral. What difference does it make how people are asked about the attribution process? How do people come to make attributions regardless of what terminology is used?³⁹ While what might be labeled the standard model, "naming, blaming, and claiming" (Felstiner et al. 1980-81) suggests that attribution precedes claiming, is that necessarily the case? When does attribution lead to claiming and when is attribution a rationalization for claiming (see Lloyd-Bostock 1984)? One area where claims may frequently be filed (at least in the United States) in the absence of clear attribution is medical negligence, but the explanation for that is attribution requires good information, and potential medical negligence claimants often have to initiate a claim in order to obtain the information necessary to determine if someone is responsible for an injury. To what degree is this true in other areas (e.g., potential discrimination claims)?

A third area that has received virtually no work concerns claiming in situations where identifiable groups of potential claimants are involved. Such situations typically arise in the context of mass torts or what in the United States is called "class actions." While mechanisms for aggregation are probably most highly developed in the United States, they are by no means unique to that country (Hensler *et al.* 2009). Interestingly, there is very little research on claiming behavior in the context of mass torts and class actions. While many studies of class actions and mass torts report the number of claims that have been made, efforts to estimate *claiming rates* are much less common (but see Kritzer 1988-89, p. 225, Hensler *et al.* 1999, p. 549). There are many obvious questions one might ask about the factors that could affect claiming in such situations, including the seriousness of the injury involved, the amount of compensation that is to be paid, the complexity of the claim-filing process,⁴⁰ the nature of any formal notification process, the incentives of third parties to assist in the claiming process, etc. However, to date there has been little more than speculation on these issues.

A final area that is clearly understudied is organizational claiming whether by government, business, or other types of organizational entities. Macaulay's seminal study of contract problems (Macaulay 1963) suggests that businesses with ongoing relationships may tend to avoid legal claiming, and treat problems as simply part of day-to-day business to be dealt with in ways that preserve the relationship.⁴ ¹¹ While there is some research on business versus business litigation (Dungworth and Rogers 1996, Cheit and Gersen 2000), there is little research on how businesses respond when they have a problem with another business or with government.⁴² Business claiming is by no means limited to problems with other businesses or with government; claims can be brought against individuals (or very small businesses). Leaving aside routine debt collection, when do businesses (or government or other organizations) bring claims against individuals? When is such claiming routinized and when is it done to create precedents and reputation (e.g., copyright infringement actions brought against individuals who have shared or downloaded music in violation of copyright laws)? How are decisions reached about bringing such claims? Who in the organization are the major actors in this decision making

³⁹ It might be fruitful to consider the psychological literature on blaming related to actions we think of more in criminal terms (see, for example, Alicke 2000, Robbennolt 2000, Solan 2003).

⁴⁰ For example, filing a claim in a class action (once a settlement has been proposed) may require documentation or information that potential claimants no longer have in their possession and which are either costly to obtain or unobtainable.

⁴¹ I found something very similar in a study done in Toronto of the relationship between large corporations and their outside law firms (Kritzer 1984).

⁴² Two studies that touch on this question are by Unah (2003) and Public Citizen (Public Citizen 2004).

process? Organizational claiming is a potentially fruitful area of inquiry, although it will require creative methods by those undertaking such research.

5. References

- Abel-Smith, B., Zander, M. & Brooke, R., 1973. *Legal problems and the citizen: A study in three London boroughs.* London: Heinemann.
- Abrahamse, A.F. & Carroll, S.J., 1999. The frequency of excess claims for automobile personal injuries. In Dionne, G. & Laberge-Nadeau, C. eds. *Automobile insurance: Road safety, new drivers, risks, insurance fraud and regulation.* Norwell, MA: Kluwer Academic Publishers, 131-149.
- Alicke, M.D., 2000. Culpible control and the psychology of blame. *Psychological Bulletin*, 126, 556-574.
- American Bar Association, 1994. *Findings of the comprehensive legal needs stud.y* Chicago: American Bar Association.
- Atiyah, P.S., 1987. Tort law and the alternatives: Some Anglo-American comparisons. *Duke Law Journal*, 1987, 1002-1044.
- Balmer, N., Pleasence, P., Buck, A. & Walter, H.C., 2006. Worried sick: The experience of debt problems and their relationship with health, illness and disability. *Social Policy and Society*, 5 (1), 39-51.
- Beardon, W. & Crockett, M., 1981. Self monitoring, norms and attitudes as influences on consumer complaining. *Journal of Business Research*, 9, 255-266.
- Beardon, W. & Mason, B., 1984. An investigation of influences on consumer complaint reports. *Advances in Consumer Research*, 11, 490-495.
- Beardon, W., Teel, J.E. & Crockett, M., 1989. A path model of consumer complaint behavior. In Bagozzi, R.P., Bernhardt, K.L., Busch, P.S., Gravens, D.W., Hair, J.F., Jr. & Scott, C. eds. *Marketing in the 80's: 1980 educator's conference proceedings.* Chicago: American Marketing Association, 101-104.
- Bernstein, L., 1992. Opting out of the legal system: Extralegal contractual relations in the diamond industry. *Journal of Legal Studies*, 21 (1), 115-157.
- Best, A., 1981. When consumers complain. New York: Columbia University Press.
- Best, A. & R.Andreasenn, A., 1977. Consumer response to unsatisfactory purchases: A survey of perceiving defects, voicing complaints, and obtaining redress. *Law & Society Review*, 11, 701.
- Better Regulation Task Force, 2004. Better routes to redress. London.
- Blacksell, M., Economides, K. & Watkins, C., 1991. *Justice outside the city: Access to legal services in rural Britain.* Essex, U.K.: Longman Scientific & Technical.
- Blackstone, A., Uggen, C. & Mclaughlin, H., 2009. Legal consciousness and responses to sexual harassment. *Law & Society Review*, 43 (3), 631-668
- Blankenburg, E., 1992. A flood of litigation? Legal cultures and litigation flows before European courts in historical and comparative perspective. *Justice System Journal*, 16, 101-110.
- Blankenburg, E., 1994. The infrastructure for avoiding civil litigation: Comparing cultures of legal behavior in the Netherlands and West Germany. *Law & Society Review*, 28, 789-808.
- Blankenburg, E., 1998. Patterns of legal culture: The Netherlands compared to neighboring germany. *American Journal of Comparative Law*, 46, 1-41.

- Bloembergen, A.R. & Van Wersch, P.J.M., 1973. *Verkeersslachtoffers en hun schade* (victims of traffic accidents and their losses [with summary in english]}. Amsterdam: Kluwer-Devanter.
- Bogart, W.A. & Vidmar, N., 1990. Problems and experiences with the Ontario civil justice system: An empirical assessment. In Hutchinson, A.C. ed. *Access to civil justice.* Toronto: Carswell, 1-51.
- Boyle, E.H., 2000. Is law the rule? Using political frames to explaing cross-national variation in legal activities. *Social Forces*, 79 (2), 385-418.
- Browne, M.J. & Puelz, R., 1999. The effect of legal rules on the value of economic and non-economic damages and the decision to file. *Journal of Risk and Uncertainty*, 18 (2), 189-213.
- Browne, M.J. & Schmit, J.T., 2008. Litigation patterns in automobile bodily injury claims 1977-1997: Effects of time and tort reforms. *Journal of Risk & Insurance*, 75 (1), 83-100.
- Buck, A., Balmer, N. & Pleasence, P., 2005. Social exclusion and civil law: Experience of civil justice problems among vulnerable groups. *Social Policy Administration*, 39 (3), 302-322.
- Buck, A., Pleasence, P., Balmer, N. & O'grady, A., 2004. Lone parents and civil law: Their experience of problems and their advice-seeking behaviour. *Social Policy Administration*, 38 (3), 253-269.
- Bumiller, K., 1987. Victims in the shadow of the law: A critique of the model of legal protection. *Signs*, 12, 421-439.
- Bumiller, K., 1988. *Civil rights society: The social construction of victims.* Baltimore: The Johns Hopkins University Press.
- Cass, M. & Sackville, R., 1975. Legal needs of the poor. Canberra.
- Cheit, R.E. & Gersen, J.E., 2000. When businesses sue each other: An empirical study of state court litigation. *Law and Social Inquiry*, 25, 789-816.
- Clark, C.E. & Corstvet, E., 1938. The lawyer and the public: An A.A.L.S. survey. *Yale Law Journal*, 47, 1272-1293.
- Coates, D. & Penrod, S., 1980-81. Social psychology and the emergence of disputes. *Law & Society Review*, 15, 655-680.
- Committee to Study Compensation for Automobile Accidents, 1932. *Report, by the committee to study compensation for automobile accidents, to the Columbia University Council for Research in the Social Sciences.* Philadelphia: Press of International Printing.
- Connard, A.F., Morgan, J., Pratt, R., Voltz, C. & Bombaugh, R., 1964. *Automobile accident costs and payments: Studies in the economics of injury reparation* Ann Arbor: University of Michigan Press.
- Constitutional Affairs Committee (House of Commons), 2006. Compensation culture. London: The Stationery Office Limited [online]. Available from <u>http://www.publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm200506/cmselect/cmconst/754/</u> <u>754i.pdf</u> [Accessed 22 Sep 2011].
- Coumarelos, C., Wei, Z. & Zhou, A.Z., 2006. *Justice made to measure: NSW legal needs survey in disadvantaged areas.* Sydney: Law and Justice Foundation of New South Wales.
- Curran, B.A., 1977. *The legal needs of the public: The final report of a national survey.* Chicago: American Bar Foundation.

- Currie, A., 2006. A national survey of the civil justice problems of law-and moderate-income Canadians: Incidence and patterns. *International Journal of the Legal Profession*, 13 (3), 217-242.
- Currie, A., 2009. The legal problems of everyday life. In Sandefur, R. ed. *Access to Justice (Sociology of Crime, Law and Deviance, Volume 12).* Bingley, UK: Emerald Group Publishing, 1-41.
- Currie, A., 2010. *The legal problems of everyday life: The nature, extent and consequences of justiciable problems experienced by Canadians.* Ottawa, Canada.
- Daniels, S., 1982. Civil litigation in illinois trial courts: An exploration of rural-urban differences. *Law & Politics Quarterly*, 4, 190-214.
- Daniels, S., 1984. Ladders and bushes: The problem of caseloads and studying court activities over time. *American Bar Foundation Research Journal*, 1984, 751-796.
- Daniels, S., 1985. Continuity and change in patterns of case handling: A case study of two rural communities. *Law & Society Review*, 19, 381-420.
- Daniels, S. & Martin, J., 2010. "It is no longer viable from a practical and business standpoint:" damage caps, "hidden victims," and the declining interest in medical malpractice cases *International Journal of the Legal Profession*, 17 (1) 59-82.
- Danzon, P.M., 1984. The frequency and severity of medical malpractice claims. *Journal of Law and Economics*, 27, 115-148.
- Day, R.L., 1984. Modeling choices among alternative responses to disatisfaction. *Advances in Consumer Research*, 11, 496-499.
- Day, R.L. & Hunt, H.K., 1978. New dimensions of consumer satisfaction and complaining behaviore. *Third Annual Conference on Consumer Satisfaction, Dissatisfaction and Complaining Behavior*, Chicago, Illinois.
- Day, R.L. & Landon, E.L., 1977. Toward a theory of consumer complaining behavior. In Woodside, A.G., Sheth, J.N. & Bennett, P.D. eds. *Consumer and industrial buying behavior.* New York: North-Holland, 425-433.
- Day, R.L., Schaetzle, T., Grabicke, K. & Staubach, F., 1981. The hidden agenda of consumer complaining. *Journal of Retailing*, 57, 86-106.
- Di Pietro, S. & Carns, T.W., 1996. Alaska's English rule: Attorney's fee shifting in civil cases. *Alaska Law Review*, 13, 33-93.
- Donohue, J.J. & Ho, D.E., 2007. The impact of damage caps on malpractice claims: Randomization inference with difference-in-differences. *Journal of Empirical Legal Studies*, 4 (1), 69-102.
- Dungworth, T. & Rogers, J., 1996. Corporations in court: Big business litigation in U.S. federal courts, 1971-1991. *Law & Social Inquiry*, 21, 497-592.
- Durkin, T. 1991. Framing the choice to sue: Victim cognitions and claims. American Bar Foundation Working Paper #9119.
- Engel, D.M., 1980. Legal pluralism in an American community: Perspectives on a civil trial court. *American Bar Foundation Research Journal*, 1980, 425-454.
- Engel, D.M., 1983. Cases, conflict, and accommodation: Patterns of legal interaction in a small community. *American Bar Foundation Research Journal*, 1983, 803-874.
- Engel, D.M., 1984. The oven bird's song: Insiders, outsiders, and personal injuries in an American community. *Law & Society Review*, 18, 551-582.

- Engel, D.M. & Steele, E.H., 1979. Civil cases in society: Legal process, social order, and the civil justice system. *American Bar Foundation Research Journal*, 2, 295-346.
- English, H.R.E., 1959. A year of pre-trial settlement conferences. *Chicago Bar Record*, 40, 343-346.
- Ewick, P. & Silbey, S.S., 1998. *The common place of law: Stories from everyday life.* Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Farhang, S., 2010. *The litigation state: public regulation and private lawsuits in the U.S.* Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.
- Fea, V., 1983. The Law Society ombudsman: Profile of a law observer in New Zealand. *Windsor Yearbook of Access to Justice*, 3, 403-408.
- Feldman, S.M., 2000. American legal thought from premodernism to postmodernism: An intellectual voyage. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Felstiner, W.L.F., 1974. Influences of social organizations on dispute processing. *Law & Society Review*, 9, 63-94.
- Felstiner, W.L.F., Abel, R.L. & Sarat, A., 1980-81. The emergence and transformation of disputes: Naming, blaming, claiming... *Law & Society Review*, 15, 631-654.
- Fitzgerald, J.M., 1983. Grievances, disputes and outcomes: Patterns of 'middle range' disputing in Australia and the United States. *Law in Context*, 1, 15-45.
- Fornell, C. & Westbrook, R.A., 1979. An exploratory study of assertiveness, aggressiveness and consumer complaining behavior. *Advances in Consumer Research*, 6, 105-110.
- Friedman, L.M., 1985. Total justice. New York: Russell Sage Foundation.
- Galanter, M., 1983. Reading the landscape of disputes: What we know and don't know (and think we know) about our allegedly contentious and litigious society. *UCLA Law Review*, 31, 4-71.
- Genn, H., 1995. Access to just settlement: The case of medical negligence. *In* Zuckerman, A.a.S. & Cranston, R. eds. *Reform of civil procedure: Essays on 'access to justice'.* Oxford: Clarendon Press, 393-412.
- Genn, H., 1999. *Paths to justice: What people do and think about going to law.* Oxford: Hart Publishing.
- Genn, H. & Paterson, A., 2001. *Paths to justice, Scotland: What people in Scotland do and think about going to law.* Oxford: Hart Publishing Co.
- Gilad, S., 2008. Accountability or expectations management? The role of the ombudsman in financial regulation. *Law & Policy*, 30 (2), 227-253.
- Ginsburg, T. & Hoetker, G., 2006. The unreluctant litigant? An empirical analysis of Japan's turn to litigation. *Journal of Legal Studies*, 35 (1), 31-60.
- Gluckman, M., 1955. *The judicial process among the Barotse of Northern Rhodesia.* Manchester: Manchester University Press.
- Grabicke, K., Schaetzle, T. & Staubach, F., 1982. The influence of personality factors on complaining behavior. In Hunt, H.K. & Days, R.L. eds. *Conceptual and empirical contributions to consumer satisfaction and complaining behavior.* Bloomington, IN: Indiana University School of Business, Department of Marketing, 26-31.
- Gramatikov, M., 2008. Multiple justicable problems in Bulgaria. Tilburg University Legal Studies Working Paper No. 16/2008; TISCO Civil Law and Conflict Resolution Systems Working Paper No. 08/2008.

- Greenhouse, C., 1982. Nature is to culture as praying is to suing: Legal pluralism in an American suburb. *Journal of Legal Pluralism*, 20, 20-37.
- Greenhouse, C., 1986. *Praying for justice: Faith, order, and community in an American town.* Ithaca, NY: Cornell University Press.
- Greenhouse, C.J., Yngvesson, B. & Engel, D.M., 1994. *Law and community in three American towns.* Ithaca, NY: Cornell University Press.
- Grossman, J. & Sarat, A., 1975. Litigation in the federal courts: A comparative perspective. *Law & Society Review*, 9, 321-346.
- Grossman, J.B., Kritzer, H.M., Bumiller, K., Sarat, A., Mcdougal, S. & Miller, R.E., 1982. Dimensions of institutional participation: Who uses the courts and how? *Journal of Politics*, 44, 86-114.
- Hadfield, G.K., 2010. Higher demand, lower supply? A comparative assessment of the legal resource landscape for ordinary americans. *Fordham Urban Law Journal*, 37 (1), 129-156.
- Halliday, S. & Schmidt, P., 2009. *Conducting law and society research: Reflections on methods and practices.* Cambridge, England: Cambridge University Press.
- Hamilton, V.L. & Sanders, J., 1992. *Everyday justice: Responsibility and the individual in Japan and the United States.* New Haven: Yale University Press.
- Hannigan, J.A., 1977. The newspaper ombudsman and consumer complaints: An empirical assessment. *Law & Society Review*, 11, 679.
- Harris, D., Maclean, M., Genn, H., Lloyd-Bostock, S., Fenn, P., Corfield, P. & Brittan, Y., 1984. *Compensation and support for illness and injury.* Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Hart, H.M., Jr. & Sacks, A.M., 1994. *The legal process: Basic problems in the making and application of law* [Prepared for publication from the 1958 Tentative Edition by William N. Eskridge, Jr. and Philip P. Frickey]. Westbury, NY: Foundation Press.
- Hart, K.D. & Peters, P.G., 2008. Cultures of claiming: Local variation in malpractice claim frequency. *Journal of Empirical Legal Studies*, 5 (1), 77-107.
- Hensler, D.R., Dombey-Moore, B., Giddens, B., Gross, J., Moller, E.K. & Pace, N.M., 1999. *Class action dilemmas: Pursuing public goals for private gain.* Santa Monica, CA: RAND Institute for Civil Justice.
- Hensler, D.R., Hodges, C. & Tulibacka, M., 2009. The globalization of class actions. *The Annals*, 622 [entire issue].
- Hensler, D.R., Marquis, M.S., Abrahamse, A.F., Berry, S.H., Ebener, P.A., Lewis, E., Lind, E.A., Maccoun, R.J., Manning, W.G., Rogowski, J.A. & Vaiana, M.E., 1991. *Compensation for accidental injuries in the United States.* Santa Monica, CA: The RAND Corporation.
- Hill, L.B., 1976. *The model ombudsman: Institutionalizing New Zealand's democratic experiment.* Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.
- Hirschman, A.O., 1970. *Exit, voice and loyalty: Response to decline in firms, organizations, and state.s* Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press Press.
- Hirsh, C.E. & Kornrich, S., 2008. The context of discrimination: Workplace conditions, institutional environments, and sex and race discrimination charges. *American Journal of Sociology*, 113 (5), 1394-1432.
- Hoebel, E.A., 1961. *The law of primitive man: A study in comparative legal dynamics.* Cambridge, Ma.: Harvard University Press.

- Hoffer, P.C., 1989. Honor and the roots of American litigiousness. *American Journal* of Legal History, 33, 295-319.
- Hong Kong Department of Justice, 2008. *Consultancy study on the demand for and supply of legal and related services.* Hong Kong.
- Hunting, R.B. & Neuwirth, G.S., 1962. *Who sues in New York City? A study of automobile accident claims* New York: Columbia University Press.
- Jacobi, T., 2009. The role of politics and economics in explaining variation in litigation rates in the U.S. States. *Journal of Legal Studies*, 38 (1), 205-233.
- Kawashima, T., 1973. Dispute resolution in contemporary japan. In Mehren, A.V. ed. *Law in Japan.* Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press, 48-67.
- Kidder, R.L. & Hostetler, J.A., 1990. Managing ideologies: Harmony as ideology in Amish and Japanese societies. *Law & Society Review*, 24, 895-922.
- Kilian, M., 2003. Alternatives to public provision: The role of legal expenses insurance in broadening access to justice: The German experience. *Journal of Law & Society*, 30 (1), 31-48.
- Kritzer, H.M., 1984. The dimensions of lawyer-client relations: Notes toward a theory and a field study. *American Bar Foundation Research Journal*, 1984 (2), 409-428.
- Kritzer, H.M., 1988-89. Public notification campaigns in mass litigation: The Dalkon Shield case. *Justice System Journal*, 13, 220-239.
- Kritzer, H.M., 1991. Propensity to sue in England and the United States: Blaming and claiming in tort cases. *Journal of Law and Society*, 18, 400-427.
- Kritzer, H.M., 2008. To lawyer, or not to lawyer: Is that the question? *Journal of Empirical Legal Studies*, 5 (4), 875-906.
- Kritzer, H.M., 2010. Examining the real demand for legal services. *Fordham Urban Law Journal*, 37, 255-272.
- Kritzer, H.M., Bogart, W.A. & Vidmar, N., 1991a. The aftermath of injury: Cultural factors in compensation seeking in Canada and the United States. *Law & Society Review*, 25, 499-543.
- Kritzer, H.M., Vidmar, N. & Bogart, W.A., 1991b. To confront or not to confront: Measuring claiming rates in discrimination grievances. *Law & Society Review*, 25, 875-887.
- Kritzer, H.M., Vidmar, N., Bogart, W.A. & Zahorik, K.M., 1991c. Legal mobilization in Canada and the United States: Consumer problems in North America [online]. Paper presented at the Annual Meeting of the Midwest Political Science Association. Chicago, Illinois. Available from: <u>http://netfiles.umn.edu/users/kritzer/www/research/MPSA-1991.pdf</u> [Accessed 22 Sep 2011].
- Ladinsky, J. & Susmilch, C., 1985. Community factors in the brokerage of consumer product and services problems. *In* Suttles, G. & Zald, M. eds. *The challenge of social control: Citizenship and institution building in modern society.* Norwood, NJ: Ablex, 193-217.
- Lee, H.-D., Browne, M.J. & Schmit, J.T., 1994. How does joint and several tort reform affect the rate of tort filings? Evidence from the state courts. *Journal of Risk and Insurance*, 61, 295-316.
- Lewis, R., Morris, A. & Oliphant, K., 2006. Tort personal injury claims statistics: Is there a compensation culture in the United Kingdom? [online] *Tort Law Journal*, 14, 158-175. Available from: <u>http://ssrn.com/abstract=892981</u> [Accessed 22 Sep 2011].

- Lloyd-Bostock, S., 1984. Fault and liability for accidents: The accident victim's perspective. In Harris, D., Maclean, M., Genn, H., Fenn, P., Corfield, P. & Brittan, Y., *Compensation and support for illness and injury.* Oxford: Oxford University Press, 139-163.
- Low, S. & Smith, J.K., 1992. The relationship of alternative negligence rules to litigation behavior and tort claim disposition. *Law & Social Inquiry*, 17, 63-87.
- Low, S. & Smith, J.K., 1995. Decisions to retain attorneys and file lawsuits: An examination of the comparative negligence rule in accident law. *Journal of Legal Studies*, 24, 535-557.
- Macaulay, S., 1963. Non-contractual relations in business: A preliminary study. *American Sociological Review*, 28, 59-76.
- Markesinis, B.S., 1990. Litigation-mania in England, Germany and the USA: Are we so very different. *Studi Senesi*, 102, 372-433.
- Marshall, A.-M., 2003. Injustice frames, legality, and the everyday construction of sexual harassment. *Law & Social Inquiry*, 28, 659-89.
- Marshall, A.-M., 2005. Idle rights: Employees' rights consciousness and the construction of sexual harassment policies. *Law & Society Review*, 39 (1), 83-124.
- May, M.L. & Stengel, D.B., 1990. Who sues their doctors? How patients handle medical grievances. *Law & Society Review*, 24, 105-120.
- Mayhew, L.H. & Reiss, A.J., Jr., 1969. The social organization of legal contacts. *American Sociological Review*, 34, 309-318.
- McIntosh, W.V., 1980-81. 150 years of litigation and dispute settlement: A court tale. *Law & Society Review*, 15, 823-848.
- McIntosh, W.V., 1989. *The appeal of civil law: A political-economic analysis of litigation* Urbana, Illinois: University of Illinois Press.
- McMahon, M., Daly, J., Evans, M., Lowy, C. & Coventry, G., 1994. The quest for recompense: Claimants' experience of medical negligence compensation in Victoria, Australia. *Law & Policy*, 16, 209-234.
- Meyer, W.E., 1968. Dollars, delay and the automobile victim: Studies in reparation for highway injuries and related court problems. Indianapolis: Bobbs-Merrill.
- Michelson, E., 2007. Climbing the dispute pagoda: Grievances and appeals to the official justice system in rural China. *American Sociological Review*, 72 (3), 459-485.
- Miller, R.E. & Sarat, A., 1980-81. Grievances, claims, and disputes: Assessing the adversary culture. *Law & Society Review*, 15, 525-565.
- Miyazawa, S., 1987. Taking kawashima seriously: A review of japanese research on Japanese legal consciousness and disputing behavior. *Law & Society Review*, 21, 219-241.
- Morganosky, M.A. & Buckley, H.M., 1987. Complaint behavior: An analysis of demographics, lifestyle, and consumer values. *Advances in Consumer Research*, 14, 223-226.
- Morris, A., 2007. Spiralling or stabilising? The compensation culture and our propensity to claim damages for personal injury. *Modern Law Review*, 70 (3), 349-378.
- Murayama, M., 2007. Experiences of problems and disputing behaviour in Japan. *Meiji Law Journal*, 14, 1-59.
- Nader, L. ed. 1969. Law in culture and society. Chicago: Aldine Publishing Co.

- Nader, L. & Todd, H.F., 1978. *The disputing process---law in ten societies.* New York: Columbia University Press.
- Nantel, J., 1985. Can the self monitoring construct improve predictions of consumer complaining/noncomplaining behaviors? In Hunt, H.K. & Days, R.L. eds. *Consumer satisfaction, dissatisfaction, and complaining behavior.* Bloomington, IN: Indiana University School of Business, Department of Marketing, 54-58.
- Office of Fair Trading, 1986. Consumer dissatisfaction: A report on surveys undertaken for the Office of Fair Trading. London.
- Patel, A., Balmer, N.J. & Pleasence, P., 2008. Geography of advice seeking. *Geoforum*, 39, 2084-2096.
- Pleasence, P. & Balmer, N., 2007. Mental health and the experience of housing problems involving rights. *People, Place & Policy Online* [online], 2 (1), 4-16 Available from:
 http://213.251.150.223/tna/20070705194523/http://extra.shu.ac.uk/ppp-online/issue_1_300108/documents/mental_health_housing_problems_rights.pdf [Accessed 22 Sep 2011]
- Pleasence, P., Balmer, N. & Buck, A., 2006. *Causes of action: Civil law and social justice* [2nd edition]. London: Legal Services Research Centre.
- Pleasence, P., Balmer, N.J. & Buck, A., 2008. The health cost of civil-law problems: Further evidence of links between civil-law problems and morbidity, and the consequential use of health services. *Journal of Empirical Legal Studies*, 5 (2), 351-373.
- Pleasence, P., Balmer, N.J., Buck, A., O'Grady, A. & Genn, H., 2004a. Multiple justiciable problems: Common clusters and their social and demographic indicators. *Journal of Empirical Legal Studies*, 1 (2), 301-329.
- Pleasence, P., Buck, A., Balmer, N., O'Grady, A., Genn, H. & Smith, M., 2004b. *Causes of action: Civil law and social justice.* London: Legal Services Research Centre.
- Pleasence, P., Genn, H., Balmer, N.J., Buck, A. & O'Grady, A., 2003. Causes of action: First findings of the LSRC periodic survey. *Journal of Law & Society*, 30 (1), 11-30.
- Polinsky, A.M. & Rubinfeld, D.L., 1998. Does the English rule discourage lowprobability-of-prevailing plaintiffs? *Journal of Legal Studies*, 27 (2), 519-35.
- Posner, R.A., 1997. Explaining the variance in the number of tort suits across U.S. States and between the United States and England. *Journal of Legal Studies*, 26, 477-489.
- Public Citizen, 2004. *Frequent filers: Corporate hypocrisy in accessing the courts.* Washington, DC.
- Quinn, B.-A., 2000. The paradox of complaining: Law, humor, and harassment in the everyday work world. *Law and Social Inquiry*, 25, 1151-85.
- Richens, M.L., 1982. An investigation of consumer attitudes toward complaining. *Advances in Consumer Research*, 9, 502-506.
- Richman, B.D., 2006. How community institutions create economic advantage: Jewish diamond merchants in New York. *Law & Social Inquiry*, 31 (2), 383-420.
- Robbennolt, J.K., 2000. Outcome severity and judgments of "responsibility": A meta-analytic review. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 30, 2575-2609.

- Rogers, J.C. & Williams, T.G., 1990. Consumer personal values as antecedents to dyadic and third party public consumer claiming behavior: An exploratory study. *Journal of Consumer Satisfaction, Dissatisfaction and Complaining Behavior*, 3, 71-81.
- Rolph, J., Hammitt, J., Hardens, R. & Polich, S., 1983. *Automobile accident compensation, I: Who pays, how much, how soon?* Santa Monica.
- Royal Commission on Civil Liability and Compensation for Personal Injury, L.P., Chairman, 1978. *Report of the Royal Commission on Civil Liability and Compensation for Personal Injury* (3 vols.). London: HMSO.
- Sabry, F., 2004. The propensity to sue: Why do people seek legal actions. Boston: NERA Economic Consulting Working Paper.
- Sandefur, R.L., 2008. Access to civil justice and race, class, and gender inequality. *Annual Review of Sociology*, 34, 339-358.
- Sanders, J. & Hamilton, V.L., 1992. Legal cultures and punishment repertoires in Japan, Russia, and the United States. *Law & Society Review*, 26, 117-138.
- Schmit, J.T., Browne, M.J. & Lee, H.D., 1997. The effect of state tort reforms on claim filings. *Risk Management and Insurance Review*, 1, 1-17.
- Schuyt, K., Groenendijk, K. & Sloot, B., 1976. De weg naar het recht (the road to justice). *European yearbook in law and sociology, 1977.* Deventer: Kluwer.
- Schwarcz, D., 2009. Redesigning consumer dispute resolution: A case study of the British and American approaches to insurance claims conflict. *Tulane Law Review*, 83, 755-812.
- Sloan, F.A. & Hsieh, C.R., 1995. Injury, liability, and the decision to file a medical malpractice claim. *Law & Society Review*, 29, 413-436.
- Smith, R.H., 1919. *Justice and the poor.* New York: Carnegie Endowment for the Advancement of Teaching.
- Solan, L., 2003. Cognitive foundations of the impule to blame. *Brooklyn Law Review*, 68, 1003-1029.
- Tanase, T., 1990. The management of automobile accident compensation in Japan. *Law & Society Review*, 24, 651-692.
- Unah, I., 2003. Explaining corporate litigation activity in an integrated framework of interest mobilization. *Business and Politics*, 5 (1), 65-94.
- Van Loon, F. & Langerwerf, E., 1990. Socioeconomic development and the evolution of litigation rates of civil courts in Belgium, 1835-1980. *Law & Society Review*, 14, 283-298.
- Van Velthoven, B.C.J. & Ter Voert, M., 2004. *Paths to justice in the Netherlands: Looking for signs of social exclusion* [online]. Available from <u>http://media.leidenuniv.nl/legacy/rm-2004-04.pdf</u> [Accessed 22 Sep 2011].
- Vidmar, N., 1981. Justice motives and other psychological factors in the development and resolution of disputes. In Lerner, M.J. & Lerner, S.C. eds. *The justice motive in social behavior: Adapting to times of scarcity and change.* New York: Plenum Press, 395-422.
- Vidmar, N., 1988. Seeking justice: An empirical map of consumer problems and consumer responses in Canada. *Osgoode Hall Law Journal*, 26, 757-796.
- Vidmar, N. & Schuller, R.A., 1987. Individual differences and the pursuit of legal rights. *Law and Human Behavior*, 11, 299-317.
- Warland, R.H., Hermann, R.O. & Willits, J., 1975. Dissatisfied consumers: Who gets upset and who takes action. *Journal of Consumer Affairs*, 9, 148.

- Weiler, P.C., Hiatt, H.H., Newhouse, J.P., Johnson, W.G., Brennan, T.A. & Leape, L.L., 1992. A measure of malpractice: Medical injury, malpractice litigation, and patient compensation. Cambridge, Massachusetts: Harvard University Press.
- Weisberg, H.I. & Derrig, R.A., 1991. Massachusetts automobile bodily injury tort reform. *Journal of Insurance Regulation*, 9, 384-440.
- Wollschläger, C., 1990. Civil litigation and modernization: The work of the municipal courts of Bremen, Germany, in five centuries, 1549-1984. *Law & Society Review*, 14, 261-282.
- Wollschläger, C., 1997. Historical trends of civil litigation in Japan, Arizona,
 Sweden, and Germany: Japanese legal culture in the light of judicial statistics.
 In Baum, H. ed. *Japan, economic success and legal system.* New York: Walter de Gruyter.
- Wollschläger, C., 1998. Exploring global landscapes of litigation rates. In Brand, J.
 & Strempel, D. eds. Soziologie des rechts: Festschrift für erhard blankenburg zum 60 geburtstag. Baden Baden: Nomos, 577-588.
- Wood, W.J., 1916. Necessity of public defender established by statistics. *Journal of the American Institute of Criminal Law & Criminology*, 7, 230-244.
- Yablon, C., 1996. Stupid lawyer tricks: An essay on discovery abuse. *Columbia Law Review*, 96, 1618-1644.
- Yarrow, S., 2001. Conditional fees. In David Hume Institute, *The settlement of legal disputes: An assessment of recent reform measures [Hume papers on public policy, volume 8, no. 3]*. Edinburgh: Edinburgh University Press, 1-10.
- Yates, J., Davis, B.C. & Glick, H.R., 2001. The politics of torts: Explaining litigation rates in the American states. *State Politics & Policy Quarterly*, 1 (2), 127-143.
- Yates, J., Tankersley, H. & Brace, P., 2010. Assessing the impact of state judicial structures on citizen litigiousness. *Political Research Quarterly* 63, 796-810.
- Yngvesson, B., 1988. Making law at the doorway: The clerk, the court, and the construction of community in a New England town. *Law & Society Review*, 22, 409-448.
- Yngvesson, B., 1993. Virtuous citizens, disruptive subjects: Order and complaint in a New England court New York: Routledge.
- Zaichkowsky, J. & Liefeld, J., 1977. Personality profiles of consumer complaint letter writers. In Day, R.L. ed. *Consumer satisfaction, dissatisfaction and complaining behavior.* Bloomington, IN: Indiana University School of Business, Department of Marketing, 124-129.